
i

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL, PENNS PLACE,
PETERSFIELD, HAMPSHIRE GU31 4EX

Telephone:  01730 266551
Website:  www.easthants.gov.uk

EXTRAORDINARY PLANNING COMMITTEE 
AGENDA

Date: Tuesday, 18 December 2018

Time: 6.00 pm

Venue: The Wesley Room - Alton Maltings Centre - Maltings Close, 
Alton, Hants. GU34 1DT

Membership:      Councillor I Thomas (Chairman)

Councillors R Ayer, D Ashcroft, K Budden, K Carter, F Cowper, N Drew, 
D Evans, A Glass, M Johnson, A Joy, C Louisson, J Matthews, R Mocatta, 
D Orme, D Phillips, S Pond (Vice-Chairman), S Schillemore and A Williams

(THE QUORUM FOR THIS MEETING IS 7 VOTING COUNCILLORS)

The business to be transacted is set out below: 

Nick Leach
Monitoring Officer

Date of Publication: Monday, 10 December 2018

Contact Officer: Cynthia Haveron 01730 234092
Email:  cynthia.haveron@easthants.gov.uk

Working in Partnership



ii

Page Nos
1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Chairman's Announcements  

3. Declarations of Interest  

Councillors are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest which they may have in any item of 
business on the agenda no later than when that item is reached.  
Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any 
discussion of, or vote on, or discharge any function related to any 
matter in which you have a pecuniary interest as defined by 
regulations made by the Secretary of State under the Localism Act 
2011.  You must withdraw from the room or chamber when the 
meeting discusses and votes on the matter.

Matters for Decision

4. Acceptance of Supplementary Matters  

5. Report of the Head of Planning  

PART 1 - East Hampshire District Council Items

Section I

5.(i)  30021/065/RES/MH - Land at Lord Mayor Treloar Hospital Site, 
Chawton Park Road, and land East of Selborne Road Alton  
Harvington Properties Ltd and Miller Homes Ltd

Reserved Matters application pursuant to outline permission 
30021/056 - Development of 243 residential dwellings with associated 
parking, landscaping, open space and works on Land East of 
Selborne Road, Alton. [Amended / additional plans received on 
20/09/2018 and 04/12/2018; supplementary tree information received 
09/11/2018]

11 - 60

Section II

There are no Section 2 items within this agenda

PART 2 - South Downs National Park Items

There are no Part 2 items within this agenda.



iii

GENERAL INFORMATION

IF YOU WOULD LIKE A VERSION OF THIS AGENDA, OR 
ANY OF ITS REPORTS, IN LARGE PRINT, BRAILLE, 
AUDIO OR IN ANOTHER LANGUAGE PLEASE CONTACT 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES ON 01730 234073.

Internet

This agenda and its accompanying reports can also be found on the East 
Hampshire District Council website: www.easthants.gov.uk

Public Attendance and Participation

Members of the public are welcome to attend and observe the meetings. 
Many of the Council’s meetings allow the public to make deputations on 
matters included in the agenda. Rules govern this procedure and for further 
information please get in touch with the contact officer for this agenda. 

Disabled Access

All meeting venues have full access and facilities for the disabled.

Emergency Procedure

Please ensure that you are familiar with the location of all emergency exits 
which are clearly marked. In the unlikely event of an emergency an alarm will 
sound.

PLEASE EVACUATE THE BUILDING IMMEDIATELY.

DO NOT RE-ENTER THE BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO.

No Smoking Policy

All meeting venues operate a no smoking policy on all premises and grounds.

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/




471500E

471500E

471600E

471600E

471700E

471700E

471800E

471800E

471900E

471900E

472000E

472000E

472100E

472100E

13
90

00
N 139000N

13
91

00
N 139100N

13
92

00
N 139200N

13
93

00
N 139300N

13
94

00
N 139400N

DataMap v4.1 Map

Crown Copyright Reserved LC 100024238-2013 East Hampshire District Council

jharris
Callout
Alton Maltings Centre

jharris_1
Typewritten Text

jharris_2
Typewritten Text

jharris_3
Typewritten Text

jharris_4
Typewritten Text

jharris_5
Typewritten Text

jharris_6
Typewritten Text

jharris_7
Typewritten Text

jharris_8
Typewritten Text

jharris_9
Typewritten Text

jharris_10
Typewritten Text

jharris_11
Typewritten Text





PLANNING COMMITTEE

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. This report considers planning applications submitted to the Council, as the Local 
Planning Authority, for determination.  It may also include items which are being 
determined by the Council on behalf of the South Downs National Park Authority.

East Hampshire District Council is acting as an agent for the South Downs National 
Park Authority in accordance with an agreement signed under Section 101 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  Under this arrangement the Council can 
determine planning applications on sites within the South Downs National Park area 
of the district on behalf of the National Park Authority.  Applications for the South 
Downs National Park are prefixed with the letters SDNP. 

2.1. SECTIONS IN THE REPORT

The report is divided into two main parts; 

Part 1 – East Hampshire District Council

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which are 
being determined or considered by the Council as the Local Planning Authority.  

Part 2 – South Downs National Park Authority

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which fall 
within East Hampshire District’s area of the South Downs National Park and which 
the Council is determining or considering on behalf of the South Downs National Park 
Authority.  

Each part of the report is split into two sections:  

Section 1 - Schedule of Application Recommendations 

This Section deals with planning applications that have been received by the Council 
and which require the Planning Committee to make a decision to grant or refuse 
permission.  Each item contains a full description of the proposed development, 
details of the consultations undertaken and summary of the responses received, an 
assessment of the proposal against current policy, a commentary and concludes with 
a recommendation.  A presentation with slides will be made to Committee.  Public 
participation is allowed on Section 1 items.

Section 2 – Other matters 

This Section deals with other planning matters which are not the subject of a current 
application or are current applications which have already been determined and have 
been subject to a committee resolution to grant or refuse. No formal presentation will 
be made to Committee, unless required, and there will be no public participation.”

2.2. All information, advice, and recommendations contained in this report are understood 



to be correct at the time of publication, which is more than one week in advance of 
the Committee meeting.  Because of the time constraints, some reports may have 
been prepared in advance of the final date for consultee responses or neighbour 
comment.  Where a recommendation is either altered or substantially amended 
between preparing the report and the Committee meeting or where additional 
information has been received, a separate Supplementary Matters paper will be 
circulated at the meeting to assist Councillors.  This paper will be available to 
members of the public.

3. PLANNING POLICY

3.1. All planning applications must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) of the Town 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  If the development plan contains material 
policies or proposals and there are no other material considerations, the application 
should be determined in accordance with the development plan.  Where there are 
other material considerations, the development plan will be the starting point, and 
other material considerations will also be taken into account.  One such consideration 
will be whether the plan policies are relevant and up to date.  The relevant 
development plans are the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan, The East 
Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy 2014, the East Hampshire District Local Plan: 
Housing and Employment Allocations 2016 and the saved policies in the East 
Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 2006.  The Development Plan also 
includes made neighbourhood Plans.

3.2. Although not necessarily specifically referred to in the Committee report, the relevant 
development plan will have been used as a background document and the relevant 
policies taken into account in the preparation of the report on each item.  

3.3. The East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy and Local Plan have policies that 
contain criteria that must be met if a particular form of development is to be allowed.  
Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018 states:  
“Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.”  

3.4. The Council may sometimes decide to grant planning permission for development 
that departs from a development plan if other material considerations indicate that it 
should proceed.  One of these material considerations is whether the plan is up-to-
date in terms of housing delivery.  

4. OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

4.1. Material considerations must be genuine planning considerations, i.e. they must be 
related to the development and use of land in the public interest.  They must also 
fairly and reasonably relate to the application concerned.  The Courts are the arbiters 
of what constitutes a material consideration.  All the fundamental factors involved in 
land-use planning are included, such as the number, size, layout, siting, design, and 
external appearance of buildings and the proposed means of access, together with 
landscaping, impact on the neighbourhood, and the availability of infrastructure.  



4.2. Matters that should not be taken into account are:
 loss of property value  loss of view
 land and boundary disputes  matters covered by leases or covenants
 the impact of construction work  property maintenance issues
 need for development (save in 

certain defined circumstances)
 the identity or personal characteristics of 

the applicant
 competition between firms,  or matters that are dealt with by other 

legislation, such as the Building 
Regulations (e.g. structural safety, fire 
risks, means of escape in the event of 
fire etc). - The fact that a development 
may conflict with other legislation is not a 
reason to refuse planning permission or 
defer a decision.  It is the applicant’s 
responsibility to ensure compliance with 
all relevant legislation.

4.3. Government statements of planning policy are material considerations that must be 
taken into account in deciding planning applications.  These statements cannot make 
irrelevant any matter that is a material consideration in a particular case.  
Nevertheless, where such statements indicate the weight that should be given to 
relevant considerations, decision-makers must have proper regard to them.  

4.4. In those cases where the development plan is not relevant, for example because 
there are no relevant policies, the planning application should be determined on its 
merits in the light of all the material considerations. 

5. PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS 

5.1. The Council can impose conditions on planning permissions only where there is a 
clear land-use planning justification for doing so.  Conditions should be used in a way 
that is clearly seen to be fair, reasonable, and practicable.  One key test of whether a 
particular condition is necessary is if planning permission would have to be refused if 
the condition were not imposed.  Otherwise, such a condition would need special and 
precise justification. 

5.2. Where it is not possible to include matters that are necessary for a development to 
proceed in a planning condition the Council can agree a planning obligation under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  Planning obligations 
should meet the Secretary of State's policy tests.  They should be: 
 necessary;
 relevant to planning;
 directly related to the proposed development;
 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development; and
 reasonable in all other respects.



5.3. The use of planning obligations is governed by the fundamental principle that 
planning permission may not be bought or sold.  It is therefore not legitimate for 
unacceptable development to be permitted because of benefits or inducements 
offered by a developer, which are not necessary to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms.  Planning obligations are only a material consideration 
to be taken into account when deciding whether to grant planning permission, and it 
is for the Council to decide what weight should be attached to a particular material 
consideration. 

6. PLANNING APPEALS 
Applicants have the right of appeal to the Secretary of State if an application is refused, or 
granted subject to conditions, or if it has not been determined within the specified period.  
Appeals are administered by the Planning Inspectorate - an executive agency reporting to 
the Secretary of State.  Appeals are considered by written representation, hearings, and 
public inquiries.  In planning appeals, it is normally expected that both parties will pay their 
own costs.  Costs can however, be awarded against the Council where it:

(a) fails to determine a planning application in good time – the Council must have good 
planning reasons to explain and justify why it did not make a decision in time.

(b) fails to carry out adequate prior investigation consistent with national policy and 
guidance.

(c) prevents or delays development that should clearly be permitted having regard to 
the development plan, national policy statements and any other material 
considerations.  It is the Councils responsibility to produce evidence to show clearly, 
why the development cannot be permitted. Reasons for refusal must be

 complete, 
 precise, 
 specific
 relevant to the application, and
 supported by substantiated evidence. 

(d) fails to show reasonable planning grounds for taking a decision contrary to officer 
advice 

(e) gives too much weight to neighbour objections - the extent of local opposition is not, 
in itself, a reasonable ground for resisting development. To carry significant weight, 
opposition should be founded on valid planning reasons that is supported by 
substantial evidence.

(f) relies on unsubstantiated objections where they include valid reasons for refusal but 
rely almost exclusively on local opposition from third parties, through 
representations and attendance at an inquiry or hearing, to support the decision.

(g) fails to show that it has considered the possibility of imposing relevant planning 
conditions to allow development to proceed.

The following are examples given in Planning Practice Guidance of circumstances that 
may lead to an award of costs against the Council:
(a) ignoring relevant national policy – for example, the advice in NPPF,
(b) where a proposal is contrary to the development plan but the relevant policy has 

been superseded by national policy which advocates an entirely different approach. 
An example might be ignoring national advice in paragraph 77 of NPPF which may 
allow some market housing to bring forward a rural affordable housing exception 
site,



(c) acting contrary to, or not following, well-established case law,
(d) persisting in objections to a scheme, or part of a scheme, which has already been 

granted planning permission or which the Secretary of State or an Inspector has 
previously indicated to be acceptable,

(e) not determining like cases in a like manner – for example, imposing an additional 
reason for refusal on a similar scheme to one previously considered by the planning 
authority where circumstances have not materially changed,

(f) failing to grant a further planning permission for a scheme the subject of an extant 
or recently expired permission where there has been no material change in 
circumstances,

(g) refusing to approve reserved matters when the objections relate to issues that 
should already have been considered at the outline stage,

(h) imposing a condition that is not necessary, precise, enforceable, relevant to 
planning, relevant to the development permitted or reasonable and thereby does 
not comply with the advice in the Planning Practice Guidance on the use of 
conditions in planning permissions,

(i) requiring the appellant to enter into or complete a planning obligation which does 
not accord with the tests in para 56 of the NPPF, or

(j) not imposing conditions on a grant of planning permission where conditions could 
effectively have overcome the objection identified – for example, in relation to 
highway matters.

7. THE SECRETARY OF STATE'S ROLE

7.1 The Secretary of State has reserve powers to direct the council to refer an 
application to him/her for decision. This is what is meant by a 'called-in' application. In 
general, this power of intervention is used selectively and the Secretary of State will 
not interfere with the jurisdiction of local planning authorities unless it is necessary to 
do so.  The Planning Practice Guidance sets out the type of development proposals 
that directs local authorities to consult with the Secretary of State before granting 
planning permission.

8. PROPRIETY

8.1 Councillors are elected to represent the interests of the whole community in planning 
matters and not simply their individual Wards.  When determining planning 
applications they must take into account planning considerations only.  This can 
include views expressed on relevant planning matters.  Local opposition or support 
for a proposal is not in itself a ground for refusing or granting planning permission, 
unless it is founded upon valid planning reasons. 

9. PRIVATE INTERESTS 

9.1 The planning system does not exist to protect the private interests of one person 
against the activities of another, although private interests may coincide with the 
public interest in some cases.  It can be difficult to distinguish between public and 
private interests, but this may be necessary on occasion.  The basic question is not 
whether owners and occupiers of neighbouring properties would experience financial 
or other loss from a particular development, but whether the proposal would 
unacceptably affect amenities and the existing use of land and buildings that ought to 



be protected in the public interest. Covenants or the maintenance/protection of 
private property are therefore not material planning consideration.

10.OTHER LEGISLATION 

10.1 Non-planning legislation may place statutory requirements on planning authorities, or 
may set out controls that need to be taken into account (for example, environmental 
legislation, or water resources legislation).  The Council, in exercising its functions, 
also must have regard to the general requirements of other legislation, in particular: 

 The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000, which prevents discrimination 
directly or indirectly in any functions, carried out by public authorities. 

 The Equality Act 2010, which places a duty on all those responsible for providing 
a service to the public not to discriminate against disabled people by providing a 
lower standard of service. 

 The Human Rights Act 1998, which incorporated provisions of the European 
Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) into UK law.  The general purpose of the 
ECHR is to protect human rights and fundamental freedoms and to maintain and 
promote the ideals and values of a democratic society.  It sets out the basic 
rights of every person together with the limitations placed on these rights in 
order to protect the rights of others and of the wider community.  The specific 
Articles of the ECHR relevant to planning include Article 6 (Right to a fair and 
public hearing), Article 8 (Right to respect for private and family life, home and 
correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition of discrimination) and Article 1 of 
Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions and protection of 
property).  All planning applications are assessed to make sure that the 
subsequent determination of the development proposal is compatible with the 
Act.  If there is a potential conflict, this will be highlighted in the report on the 
relevant item.

11.PUBLIC SPEAKING

11.1 The Council has adopted a scheme for the public to speak on all Section 1 items. 
Where public speaking is allowed, the applicant or their representative, the local 
Parish/Town Council, and one objector may address the Committee, for a maximum 
of three minutes each, by prior invitation.  Members of the public wishing to speak 
must have contacted the Meeting Administrator in Democratic Services at least 48 
hours before the meeting.  It is not possible to arrange to speak to the Committee at 
the Committee meeting itself.

11.2 For probity reasons associated with advance disclosure of information under the 
Access to Information Act, neither the applicant, Parish Council, nor an objector will 
be allowed to circulate, show or display further material at, or just before, the 
Committee meeting.  

12. INSPECTION OF DRAWINGS

12.1 All drawings are available for inspection on the internet at www.easthants.gov.uk and 
at the Planning Development Reception area during our normal office hours.  The 

http://www.easthats.gov.uk/


files and drawings will also be available 30 minutes prior to the start of meeting for 
Councillors to inspect.

13.FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

13.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  However, in the 
event of an appeal, further resources will be put towards defending the Council’s 
decision.  Rarely and in certain circumstances, decisions on planning applications 
may result in the Council facing an application for costs arising from a planning 
appeal.  Officers will aim to alert Members where this may be likely and provide 
appropriate advice in such circumstances.

Simon Jenkins
Head of Planning 

Background Papers:

 the individual planning application file (reference quoted in each case)
 the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013
 East Hampshire Joint Core Strategy 2014
 East Hampshire Employment & Housing allocations Plan 2016
 East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 2006 - Saved Policies
 Adopted Neighbourhood Plans: Alton, Bentley, Medstead & Four Marks and 

Petersfield
 Government advice and guidance contained in circulars, National Planning Policy 

Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and ministerial statements
 any other document specifically referred to in the report.







PART 1

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING

Applications to be determined by the
Council as the Local Planning Authority

18 December 2018

SECTION 1 – SCHEDULE OF APPLICATION RECOMMENDATIONS 

  
Item No.: 01
The information, recommendations, and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee meeting. 
Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the final 
date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any changes or necessary 
updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting.

PROPOSAL Reserved Matters application pursuant to outline permission 
30021/056  - Development of 243 residential dwellings with 
associated parking, landscaping, open space and works on Land 
East of Selborne Road, Alton. [Amended / additional plans received 
on 20/09/2018 and 04/12/2018; supplementary tree information 
received 09/11/2018]

LOCATION: Land at Lord Mayor Treloar Hospital Site, Chawton Park Road, and land 
East of Selborne Road Alton

REFERENCE: 30021/065 PARISH:Alton
APPLICANT:  Harvington Properties Ltd and Miller Homes Ltd
CONSULTATION EXPIRY : 18 December 2018
APPLICATION EXPIRY : 02 October 2018
COUNCILLOR: Cllr A I P Joy
SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL



This application is included on the Agenda following its deferral from the meeting of 
the Planning Committee held on 20 November 2018.

 Background

Reserved matters permission is sought for the erection of 243 dwellings, seeking approval for 
detailed matters relating to layout, appearance, scale and landscaping. Matters relating to the 
access of the site was approved in detail as part of the outline/hybrid application (30021/056). 
The application was deferred from the extraordinary meeting of the Planning Committee on 
20 November 2018 for the following reason: 

A further site visit by Members to look at:

 the relationship with neighbouring properties in the north-east corner of the site, 
including 53 Borovere Lane (the applicant was requested to ‘peg out’ the footprint of 
the proposed dwellings in this area);

 the trees in the south-western corner following the arboricultural objection;
 boundary treatments (32/34 Borovere Lane and 21 Winchester Road);
 skyline impact.

The supply of further information by the applicant in relation to:

 a photomontage looking at the potential impact of the proposed dwellings on the 
northern edge of the development on the skyline;

 confirmation of a site plan showing the relationship (overlap) between Plot 135 and 32 
Borovere Lane.

The original Officer report to this Committee is appended as Appendix 1.  In addition, a 
supplementary update report was circulated to Members at the meeting, is appended as 
Appendix 2.  This report will focus on the reasons for deferral, namely, neighbouring amenity, 
skyline and potential tree impact.

A second Committee Site Visit was held on 30th November 2018

 Amended and additional plans

Following the deferral of the application at the previous Extraordinary Planning Committee, 
the applicant has provided additional and amended plans on 4 December 2018, which detail 
the following key changes:

 Introduction of a hipped roof to Units 101 and 110 (facing 53 Borovere Lane);
 Reduced ridge and eaves height for Unit 110;
 Revised position of Unit 135 to increase separation distance to 32 Borovere Lane;
 Additional Site Section J - Units 109 and 110 and relationship to 53 Borovere Lane; and
 3 x additional site sections from site entrance (Selborne Road, A31/Selborne Road 

junction and Lumbry Park junction with Selborne Road).



The applicant has sought to reduce aspects of the built form and improve the relationships 
with specifically 32 and 53 Borovere Lane. 

3.  Neighbouring amenity 

The amended plans show a reduction in the eaves and ridge height of Unit 110; the eaves 
have reduced from 4.91 to 4.4 and the ridge height has reduced from 8.45 to 7.9 metres, with 
a hipped roof.  Unit 101 has also been amended with a hipped roof.  The separation distance 
from 32 Borovere Lane and Plot 135 has been increased, by moving Unit 135 further off the 
shared boundary line and moving the Unit further to the south.  The distances have increased 
north to south from 15.5 to 18 metres and side elevation to the boundary line from 3.5 to 4.7 
metres.  Amended elevation plans for this unit do not show any windows in the side (east) 
elevation facing 32 and 34 Borovere Lane.  

The amended plans are considered to improve the relationship to 32 and 53 Borovere Lane, 
whist not resulting in any significant changes to the relationship of other existing neighbouring 
properties. Therefore, the development is considered to remain acceptable, as it would not 
result in an unacceptable impact on the amenities enjoyed by the occupants of the 
neighbouring and surrounding properties in terms of privacy and overshadowing. Nor would 
the development result in an unacceptable impact in terms of loss of outlook / overbearing 
impact and unacceptable noise and disturbance.  

The existing boundary treatments along the northern and eastern boundaries of the site are to 
be retained and, where required, strengthened.  Conditions 9 and 10, as set out within the 
Supplementary Update Report (Appendix 2) deal with boundary treatment. Therefore, with the 
existing and additional boundary treatments, there is considered to be suitable boundary 
screening to the neighbouring properties.

Officers maintain that the proposed development accords with Policy CP27 of the Local Plan: 
Joint Core Strategy and the advice contained within the NPPF, and the amendments received 
have largely improved the relationship to the neighbouring properties. 

4.  Impact on skyline

Policy DE2 of the Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan seeks to ensure all new 
development in Alton would be exemplary standards of design and that development 
responds to the character and distinctiveness of the town. The Policy has four specific criteria, 
with the final sentence of the first setting out: "Building heights should be carefully considered 
in respect of their impact on the skyline of the town, landscape and streetscene".  As a point 
of clarity, Policy DE2 does not state that new buildings cannot breach Alton skyline, but that 
new development must respect the skyline of the town, landscape and steetscene.

The applicant has provided three additional section plans of the site and surrounding area to 
demonstrate the likely impact arising from the development on the street scene. These site 
sections are from the site entrance off Selborne Road, the Selborne Road / A31 junction and 
the Lumbry Park / Selborne Road junction. 



The site section at the site entrance (Section A-A) demonstrates the development on the top 
and highest point of the site would not be visible. The second site section plan from the 
A31/Selborne Road junction demonstrates the existing belt of woodland along the southern 
boundary would screen the development. The third and final section is taken approximately 
100 metres south of the Lumbry Park/Selborne Road junction, some 700 metres from the site 
boundary, and shows the ridge height of Plots 127-129 (142.61m) lower (0.26m) than the 
ridge line of the neighbouring property in Greenacre Close (142.87m). 

From this point along the Selborne Road, the farm buildings at Borovere Farm, 59 Borovere 
Lane and 2, 3 and 4 Greenacre Close are visible on the skyline. Selborne Road, though one 
of the primary vehicular routes into town, has no footpaths and views towards the site at this 
point would be momentary views by passing traffic and the development the development 
would be read in context of the existing built form on the skyline. Most of the development at 
this point would be screened by the existing woodland tree belt, which is protected and to be 
retained, and the additional built form that may be seen has a lower ridge height than 
Greenacre Close. As such, the resultant built form would not have any significant material 
impact and, therefore, respect Alton's skyline. As such, the development is considered to 
accord with Policy DE2 of the Alton Neighbouring Development Plan and consistent with the 
original outline/hybrid permission (30021/056).  

5. Trees

The applicant has reiterated that they do not intend to remove three trees in the south-west 
corner of the site that are subject of a Tree Preservation Order (TPO). It is proposed that 
these trees are retained and managed to ensure there is sufficient spacing between the 
building and existing trees to prevent significant post development pressures on these trees.  
This is to be secured by way of a condition, requiring the submission and agreement of a 
Woodland Management Plan for these and all of those trees to be retained and protected by 
a TPO. 

6.  Conclusion

The additional and amended plans received address the reasons for deferral.  The proposal 
accords with policies contained within local plans and the Alton Neighbourhood Plan, together 
with guidance in the NPPF.

RECOMMENDATION

That the reserved matters be APPROVED, subject to the conditions set out in the original 
report attached as Appendix 1 to this report, and the additional and amended conditions 
contained in the supplementary update report attached as Appendix 2 to this report.



SECTION 1  Item 1, Land at Lord Mayor Treloar Hospital Site, Chawton Park Road, and land 
East of Selborne Road Alton

Proposed site layout



SECTION 1 Item 1, Land at Lord Mayor Treloar Hospital Site, Chawton Park Road, and land 
East of Selborne Road Alton

Proposed site section H



SECTION 1 Item 1, Land at Lord Mayor Treloar Hospital Site, Chawton Park Road, and land 
East of Selborne Road Alton

Proposed site section J



SECTION 1 Item 1, Land at Lord Mayor Treloar Hospital Site, Chawton Park Road, and land 
East of Selborne Road Alton

Sections C -C 







PART 1

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING

Applications to be determined by the
Council as the Local Planning Authority

20 November 2018

SECTION 1 – SCHEDULE OF APPLICATION RECOMMENDATIONS 

Item No.: 01

The information, recommendations, and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee meeting. 
Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the final 
date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any changes or necessary 
updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting.

PROPOSAL Reserved Matters application pursuant to outline permission 
30021/056 - Development of 243 residential dwellings with 
associated parking, landscaping, open space and works on Land 
East of Selborne Road, Alton. [Amended plans received on 
20/09/2018; supplementary tree information received 9/11/2018]

LOCATION: Land at Lord Mayor Treloar Hospital Site, Chawton Park Road, and land 
East of Selborne Road Alton

REFERENCE : 30021/065 PARISH:Alton
APPLICANT:  Harvington Properties Ltd and Miller Homes Ltd
CONSULTATION EXPIRY : 12 October 2018
APPLICATION EXPIRY : 02 October 2018
COUNCILLOR: Cllr A I P Joy
SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL



This application is included on the agenda at the discretion of the Head of Planning. 

Site Description

The site extends to approximately 9.28ha and is bounded by Selborne Road to the west, 
Borovere Lane to the east, a section of the Mid Hants Railway line (Watercress Line) to the 
north-west.  There are a series of residential properties adjacent to the northern and eastern 
boundaries of the site. 

The frontage to Selborne Road is well vegetated with trees and hedgerows and the land rises 
sharply up from Selborne Road, where it levels out in the top section of the site towards 
Borovere Lane.  The land has two hedgerows running across the site, in an approximately 
north to south orientation, with field entrances breaking through each. There is also a mature 
tree belt running alongside the southern site boundary.  These hedgerow and tree belts are 
subject of a Tree Preservation Order. 
The application site lies within the Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan area and is not 
situated within any national landscape designations.  However, the boundary of the South 
Downs National Park is situated approximately 250 metres to the south of the A31.  The Butts 
Conservation Area lies outside the site, immediately to north-west of the site on the other side 
of the Watercress Line, and The French Horn Public House is a Grade II Listed Building 
situated within the southern part of the Conservation Area, around 120 metres to the west of 
the application site. 

Proposal

This is a reserved matters application, following outline/hybrid permission reference 
30021/056, seeking approval for reserved matters (layout, appearance, scale and 
landscaping) for 243 dwellings.  Access to the site from Selborne Road was approved in 
detail as part of the outline/hybrid application.

The mix of dwellings is as follows:

Unit size Affordable Shared 
Ownershi
p

Market Total Percentage 
of total

1 Bed 
Flats

6 6 6 18 7%

2 Bed 
Flats

3 3 10 16 7%

2 Bed 
Houses

16 3 48 67 28%

3 Bed 
Houses

7 3 74 84 34%

4 Bed 2 0 56 58 24%



Houses
Total 34 15 194 243 100%

The nature of the proposed development primarily comprises a series of two storey detached, 
semi-detached and terrace properties occupying the three distinct land parcels delineated by 
the existing hedgerow/tree belts intersecting the site, which are shown to be retained.   The 
exception to this scale of dwellings are three, three storey, apartment blocks and two chalet 
style dwellings. 

The development has three different character areas: Selborne Road Gateway (CA1), Green 
Corridors (CA2) and Village Housing (CA3). The Selborne Road Gateway relates primarily to 
the lower parcel of the site along Selborne Road and those buildings fronting the middle of the 
spine road.  The Green Corridor relates to those buildings along much of the site perimeter 
and around existing vegetation, with the remainder the Village Housing Character Area. 

A spine road meanders through the centre of the site, taking account of the site topography 
and, where possible, existing gaps in the vegetation belt. It is from this spine road that there 
are a series of secondary access road, serving a number of residential blocks. There are a 
series of residential properties running parallel and fronting Selborne Road, which are 
stepped back to provide an active street frontage served via private drives and broken up by 
soft landscaping. 

The allocated public open space remains positioned towards the top (north) of the site.  In 
addition, there is a linear stretch of open space extending along the northern section of the 
site from Borovere Lane to the Watercress Line (in the west).  This denotes the route of a gas 
pipeline.
 
The site, in addition to the spine road, has permeability with a series of pedestrian footpaths 
and links throughout the development.

Site density = 26 dwelling per hectare
Total on-site parking provision = 668 spaces

There are 16 different house types proposed across the site, within the three character areas, 
which provide distinctive spaces, street types, materials and building details that are proposed 
to respect the traditional local vernacular and create new distinct developments.  These are 
described below: 

 CA1: Selborne Road Gateway

The development along the Selborne Road has been designed to create a consistent linear 
pattern of built form fronting but set back from Selborne Road, which is book-ended by two 
three storey apartment blocks at either end.  The dwellings fronting the road are largely 
evenly spaced two storey semi-detached properties, with parking to the side to avoid 
excessive on-street parking.  



This character area also covers those buildings along the main access road in the central 
development parcel that comprise mainly large detached dwellings and a further three storey 
apartment block set behind a grass verge for tree planting and visitor parking bays.  

The dwellings in this character area would be predominately red brick and grey roof tiles, with 
some dwellings in this area detailing white brick painted elevations to create a varied and 
more diverse street scene.

 CA2: Green Corridors

This character area is spread across the site, reflecting the site's established green corridors.  
The dwellings defined by this character have been orientated to front onto these established 
green corridors to maximise views and provide natural surveillance.  The dwellings in this 
character area are a mix of two storey semi-detached and detached dwellings, with a mixture 
of parking to the front and side of the dwellings.  These dwellings are mainly red brick with a 
mix of grey and red roof tiles, intermixed by occasional dwellings with tile hanging at first floor 
level and painted external brickwork to break up the built form and add visual interest. 

 CA3: Village Housing

This character area is proposed throughout the development on those parts of the site that 
are set away from the main street, accessed via shared surface streets. The built form 
generally consists of a mix of two storey terraced and semi-detached properties set back at 
varying distances from the street.  Parking is to the front and side of these buildings, which 
are generally at a higher density with less space between the buildings.  The external 
appearance of the dwellings in this area character area is consistent with the other two, 
essentially red brick elevations and a mix of grey and red roof tile coverings.  This 
appearance is broken up by a small number of the dwellings with tile hanging or painted 
brickwork.      

Relevant Planning History

30021/056 - HYBRID APPLICATION: Development, following demolition of existing buildings 
to include: 

1) Outline application (all matters reserved, except access) for: 

a) Residential development (with a net developable area of 7.12 hectares) at land east 
of Selborne Road; 

b) Residential development (with a net developable area of 10.99 hectares) and provision of a 
country park on land at the former Lord Mayor Treloar Hospital, Chawton Park Road; 



c) Associated vehicular, pedestrian and cycle access to the highway network, general 
amenity areas (including informal and formal open spaces), ecological areas; equipped play 
areas; landscaping; vehicle and cycle parking; bin stores; electricity sub-stations; lighting; 
drainage and associated infrastructure works, including sustainable drainage systems; and 
associated engineering and service operations. 

2) Full application for: 

d) Highways works, including: 

i. a new roundabout in Selborne Road to provide entry/exit to the 'Land east of Selborne 
Road' site and new link to Winchester Road; 

ii. construction of a new road and associated groundworks linking Selborne Road with 
Winchester Road, following demolition of Stonehill farmhouse and associated buildings; 

iii. re-arrangement and closure of Winchester Road at its eastern end and provision of new 
turning area; 

iv. works to provide a new roundabout at the junction of Selborne Road with Winchester 
Road (as existing), Butts Road and Whitedown Lane; 

v. associated works within the highway at the junction of Chawton Park Road and 
Whitedown Lane; 

vi. a new access into the 'former Lord Mayor Treloar Hospital' site from Chawton Park Road; 
vii. works within the highway in Northfield Lane; viii. pedestrian crossing at Whitedown Lane 

to provide access to the new country park; 

e) Works associated with the construction of a replacement railway bridge across Whitedown 
Lane following removal/demolition of existing (Butts Bridge).   

The above hybrid application was approved on 23/07/2015, which was subject to a series of 
conditions and a legal agreement. Reserved matters for both the approved housing elements 
of the permission have been submitted and the full permission for the highway works has 
commenced. 

Land at Lord Mayor Treloar, Chawton Park Road, Alton

30021/066 - Reserved Matters application pursuant to outline application 30021/056 - 
Development comprising 280 dwellings and a Country Park with access from Chawton Park 
Road with associated internal access roads, parking, landscaping, open space, footpaths and 
sustainable urban drainage (SuDS). (Appearance, landscaping, layout and scale to be 
considered). Under consideration, October 2018.

Development Plan Policies and Proposals

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014)

CP1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 



CP2 - Spatial Strategy
CP10 - Spatial strategy for housing
CP11 - Housing tenure, type and mix
CP13 - Affordable housing on residential development sites
CP16 - Protection and provision of social infrastructure
CP18 - Provision of open space, sport and recreation and built facilities
CP20 - Landscape
CP21 - Biodiversity
CP24 - Sustainable construction
CP25 - Flood Risk
CP26 - Water resources/ water quality
CP27 - Pollution
CP28 - Green Infrastructure
CP29 - Design
CP31 - Transport
CP32 - Infrastructure

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review (2006)

T3 - Pedestrians and Cyclists
T4 - Protection of Public Footpaths
HE17 - Archaeological & Ancient Monuments
HE8 – Development affecting the setting of a conservation area
HE12 - Development affecting the setting of a Listed Building

Alton Neighbourhood Plan (2016)

CH5 – Local Green and Open Space
DE1 – Town Setting and Natural Assets
DE2 – Building Design and Town Character
HO1 – Housing Mix on Development Sites 
HO2 – Storage Facilities for Household Waste
HO3 – New Housing Site Allocations
HO3(a) – Land at Borovere Farm and Lord Mayor Treloar
TR1 – Pedestrian Networks
TR3 – Cycle Storage and Parking
TR5 – Parking Provision and Standards

Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) July 2018

In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly relevant 
to the consideration of the development;

 2. Achieving sustainable development 



 4. Decision-making 
 5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
 6. Building a strong, competitive economy  
 8. Promoting healthy and safe communities 
 9. Promoting sustainable transport 
10. Supporting high quality communications 
11. Making effective use of land 
12. Achieving well-designed places 
14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
16. Conserving the historic environment

Town Design Statement - Alton Town Design Statement - non statutory planning guidance 
that has been the subject of public consultation and therefore is a material planning 
consideration.

Alton 2020 Town Plan 2005

Holybourne Village Plan 2010

Consultations and Town Council comments

EHDC Arboricultural Officer (EHDC) - Objection, on the following grounds:
 Development fails to allow sufficient room for the future growth of trees in the wooded area 

in the south western corner

 Development would result in the removal of a protected tree (T37)

EHDC Drainage Consultant - No objection, subject to condition (drainage management).

EHDC Environmental Health (Contamination) - No objection, conditions form part of previous 
permission (30021/056) relating to potential contamination.

EHDC Environmental Health (Pollution) - No adverse comments.  Noise matters considered 
as part of original hybrid application.

EHDC Housing Enabling Officer - No objection.

EHDC Recycling and Refuse - Comments that each property will need storage for 1 x 240 ltr 
refuse bin, 1 x 240 ltr recycle bin and a 38 ltr glass box. in addition there is an optional paid 
for garden waste collection from a 240 ltr bin.

EHDC Traffic Management Team - No adverse comment.



EHDC Landscape Officer - Expresses concern in relation to: the defined linear footpath, and 
the visual impact of block 181 - 189 with suggested additional planting and hedgerow 
reinforcement.  The omission of the white painted brick is welcomed and accepts full details of 
all proposed retaining walls are not available, with agreement to planting to soften their 
appearance are agreed.
[Officer note: amended plans have been received detailing addition tree planting at some of 
the street junctions]

Crime Prevention Design Advisor - Makes comments on the following aspects: access to 
dwellings via a footpaths adjacent to public open space (POS) / parking areas, robustness of 
boundary treatments, and lighting standards.

HCC County Archaeologist - No objection, conditions set out on original permission 
(30021/056).

HCC County Ecologist - No objection, subject to condition. 

HCC Drainage - Are not able to comment on this reserved matters application as surface 
water drainage is not considered within the aspects defined in article 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 as: Access, 
Appearance, Landscaping, Layout, and Scale. 

HCC Local Highway Authority - No objection, subject to condition.

HCC School Organisation Officer - No objection, subject to the provision of the contributions 
as set out within the agreed legal / S.106 agreement.

Natural England - No objection.

South Downs National Park Authority - No objection.  Comments are made in relation to: 
introduction of 2.5 and 3 storey buildings, building materials and external lighting.
[Officer note: the outline application indicated 2, 2.5 and 3 storey buildings]

Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service - No objection.

Thames Water - No objection.

Alton Town Council - No objection.

Representations

31 letters of objection have been received raising the following concerns and comments:

a) Too much development for Alton [Officer note: the principle of 243 dwellings has been 
established through the grant of planning permission];



b) development density too great;
c)  present infrastructure cannot support level of housing proposed;
d) layout is appalling and in conflict with all current EHDC planning policies;
e) quality of space is sub-standard and cramped;
f) parking provision insufficient and parking arrangements unacceptable;
g) design hinders access for emergency vehicles;
h) abundance of larger properties already in Alton due to a number of recent residential 

developments;
i) there should be no vehicle access given to Borovere Lane other than emergency vehicles 

[Officer note: Borovere Lane is only sought for emergency, pedestrian and cycle access 
to the site];

j) no need for proposed emergency access to the site via Borovere Lane;
k) pedestrian and cycle use of Borovere Lane would be dangerous as it is an unadopted, 

narrow and unlit road;
l) pedestrian access from Borovere Lane would create Crime Prevention issues;
m) detailed site layout plan does not fully detail neighbouring properties;
n) site has only one public access road, which is not sufficient for the number of people and 

cars wishing to enter and leave the site [Officer note: outline permission granted matters
relating to access to the site that has already found to be acceptable];

o) not enough protection of existing boundary hedge to residents of Berehurst - its removal 
would impact the privacy of those occupants of Berehurst;

p) development out of character with other properties in the conservation area; 
q) apartment block would be highly visible along Selborne Road, an important gateway into 

the town;
r) development would be highly visible from the South Downs National Park;
s) impact on the setting of the Butts Conservation Area by a sprawling housing estate;
t) 20% affordable housing is inadequate [Officer note: the amount of affordable housing for 

the development has been established at outline stage - 30021/056];
u) loss of privacy, noise and disturbance and light pollution;
v) loss of view and ambience to existing neighbouring residents [Officer note: loss of a 

private view is not a material planning consideration];
w) 9 dwellings in top (north-east) corner of the site should be removed to improve the 

relationship with neighbouring properties and lessen the visual landscape impact;
x) turning area adjacent to existing farm units would be removed making it difficult for larger
 vehicles to enter / leave the existing Borovere Farm / business site [Officer note: the
 development areas where established at the outline stage and this area was included for
 development];
y) public open space should be relocated to be positioned in the top (north-east) corner of 

the site to improve the relationship with the neighbouring properties; 
z) public open space could cause significant noise and disturbance to residents' of 

Berehurst, its position should be reconsidered;
za) increased risk of flooding to neighbouring properties;
zb) no construction traffic should access the site from Borovere Lane and hours of 

construction should be restricted;
zc) radon pollution is potentially present on the site [Officer note: conditions of the outline 

permission that deal with matters relating to potential contamination on the site];



zd) development likely to be impacted by high rat population at neighbouring farm [Officer 
note: this is not a material planning consideration and is subject to separate controls / 
legislation]; and

ze) development would result in a reduction of neighbouring property values [Officer note: this 
is not a material planning consideration];

8 further letters of comment have been received, with the following points:

a) development should use bricks within built bird boxes;
b) existing wildlife value should be enhanced;
c) hedgerow between the site and neighbouring properties at Berehurst should be retained
d) Public Open Space would be better positioned in the centre of the development;
e) Animal relocation area should be moved from the north to south-east section of the site to 

be adjacent to farmland; and
f) overhead branch routes for dormice should be sought where there are gaps in the existing

hedgerows.

2 letters of support have been received, with the following positive comments:

a) support development and boundary hedge to Berehurst must be retained and maintained 
at its present size.

Determining Issues

1. Principle of development / history and context
- planning contributions / S.106

2. Layout and scale, with impact on neighbouring amenity
3. Appearance
4. Landscaping and impact on the character of the area / site
5. House type / mix and affordable housing
6. Highway and parking considerations
7. Drainage / flooding
8. Ecology
9. Impact on heritage assets 
10. Impact on the South Downs National Park
11. Developer Contributions / Community Infrastructure Levy

Planning Considerations 

1. Principle of development / history and context

In July 2015, hybrid planning permission was approved, granting full planning permission for a 
series of highways works (outlined in the planning history section) and outline permission for 
residential development across two sites: Land east of Selborne Road and Land at the former 
Lord Mayor Treloar Hospital, Chawton Park Road. 



This permission remains extant and this application seeks approval for those reserved 
matters: appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for the development land east of 
Selborne Road. 

The site is allocated within the adopted Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan - Policy 
HO3(a) Land at Borovere Farm (249 dwellings) and Lord Mayor Treloar (280 dwellings) for a 
total of 529 dwellings across the two sites.    

The submitted application proposes the erection of 243 dwellings, with associated parking, 
landscaping, open space and associated works.  This remains within the bounds of the 
original permission (30021/056) and the principle of development is acceptable. 

 Planning contributions / S106

The original planning permission (30021/056) secured a series of planning obligations 
through a S.106 legal agreement, with the following relevant to this application:

 20% affordable housing (30% intermediate (shared ownership) and 70% affordable rent)

 employment and training package 

 travel plan

 integrated transport measures

 off-site highway works 

 community project worker

 Replacement of Butts Bridge

 A commuted sum of £5,057 per eligible dwelling for extensions to primary schools in Alton 
and £1,683 per eligible dwelling for secondary education to be paid to HCC.

 Structural planting

 Management and maintenance of open spaces

 Contribution towards replacement of Alton Sports Centre (£10,000 per dwelling)

The outline application approved all matters relating to access, which included the primary 
access to the site being from a new roundabout junction on the Selborne Road. The approved 
access details also included emergency vehicle access, pedestrian and cycle access from 
Borovere Lane.  This reserved matters remains consistent with the outline permission 
(30021/056), with only access for emergency vehicles, pedestrians and cycles from Borovere 
Lane.  The detailed reserved matters are considered in the following section of this report. 



2. Layout and scale, with impact on neighbouring amenity

Policy CP29 of the Local Plan Joint Core Strategy seeks to ensure new development is of an 
exemplary standard of design, ensure layout and design contributes to local distinctiveness 
and sense of place, to be sympathetic to its setting, makes a positive contribution to the 
overall appearance of the area, be accessible to all and minimises the opportunity for crime. 

The green corridor gateway into Alton from the Selborne Road has been respected, with the 
retention of the existing vegetation along the road side and this is detailed to be enhanced.  
The new development fronting Selborne Road is also set back from the road to provide an 
attractive frontage but not to be imposing and restrictive on the landscape planting.  This has 
resulted in an attractive frontage and entrance to the site, with mixed and evenly spaced built 
form along the road frontage. There are two three storey apartment blocks in either corner of 
this front section of the site, adjacent to Selborne Road.  Although these structures are three 
storey and of a notable scale, they are positioned on the lower part of the site, near to the 
Selborne Road street level, and would be partially screened by existing vegetation.  Both 
buildings are also considered to be of good design and in-keeping with the proposal as a 
whole.  These buildings would be read as part of the wider development to the rear at a 
higher ground level. 

The middle land parcel is the steepest and likely to be the most visible part of the site.  
Because of the steep nature of this part of the site, the position of the main access road has 
changed from the indicative spine road position in the outline submission and a new gap in 
the existing tree / hedgerow belt is required, since the previous position of the road would 
have been too steep. 

To facilitate the change in levels across this section of the site, retaining walls are detailed 
and there would be a degree of re-profiling of the existing slope. Despite this, the detailed 
layout has been carefully considered, by retaining the existing vegetation cover and providing 
good separation distances.  Some terracing for some of the proposed rear gardens is shown, 
with retaining walls designed in such a way to allow for a degree of vegetation cover and to 
blend into the hillside over time. Additional landscaping is detailed along the access road and 
within existing gaps of both the vegetation belts.  The development remains mixed, with 
different house types and certain smaller individual character areas and built form facing the 
proposed spine road, giving a sense of place and defined character. 

The final top section of development sees the spine road snake towards Borovere Lane, off 
which there are a series of secondary access roads. The layout is relatively regular in nature, 
with each respective building be positioned in close proximity to the access road and evenly 
spaced to one another.  The buildings are set off the boundary lines and away from the 
existing mature vegetation cover. The building forms, designs and density within this final 
upper section of the site is essentially consistent with the two other parts of the site.  The 
layout, pattern of development and appearance of the proposed dwellings are considered to 
be of a good standard and visually appealing. 



The development as a whole would have a layout, density and pattern of development that is 
considered to be consistent with the wider and mixed pattern of development in the 
surrounding area.  The variety of building types, sizes and finishes would be complementary 
to Alton's mixed residential architectures and, although the character of the site would change 
from the existing agricultural one, much of the site's vegetation cover would be retained and 
form the foundation for this proposal - working with and enhancing the natural features on 
site.  

The outline permission showed a range of housing heights across the site, with the majority of 
the site being 2 storey, but areas of 2.5 and 3 storey included.  The development is in 
accordance with the indicative scale of development, with one exception.  The scheme shown 
at the pubic exhibition, before the application was submitted showed a three-storey block of 
flats adjacent the railway line in the middle section of the site.  In response to concern 
expressed regarding the impact of this on the houses on the opposite side of the line and the 
Conservation Area, the submitted plans show the block was moved to a more central position, 
adjacent to the spine road.  This location allows the building to viewed again the backdrop of 
other dwellings on the slope and the upper hedgerow and is considered to be appropriate to 
the site.

The upper part of the site is mainly 2 storey, with a couple of chalet-style dwellings adjacent 
to houses in Borovere Lane/ Ings Close.

As such, the layout and scale of the proposed development would respect the character, 
identity and context of the immediate surroundings and is considered to be of a good design.  
This application, therefore, complies with Policy CP29 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy, 
Policy DE2 of the Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan and the advice contained within 
the NPPF.  

Impact on neighbouring amenity:

Turning to the impact on neighbouring properties, Policy CP27 of the Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy requires new development not to result in an unacceptable effect on the amenity of 
the occupiers of neighbouring properties through loss of privacy or through excessive 
overshadowing. In addition, paragraph 127 (f) of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) sets out that decisions should ensure that development create places that area safe, 
inclusive and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for 
existing and future users. 

The closest neighbouring residential properties to the site are:

 21 Winchester Road (and Annexe) (north-west corner);

 9, 10, 11 and 12 Berehurst (northern boundary);

 2, 3 and 4 Greenacre Close (north-east corner);

 1 and 2 Ings Close (north-east corner); and



 32, 34, 53 and 59 Borovere Lane (north-east and eastern site boundary). 

The impact of the development on the amenities of those occupants of the above properties is 
considered below.

 21 Winchester Road

This is a two-storey detached dwelling, facing the existing double roundabout junction at Butts 
Bridge, where a new single larger replacement roundabout junction has been approved.  The 
development proposes a three-storey apartment block in the north-west corner of the site, 
approximately in-line with the side elevation of 21 Winchester Road.  There is an existing 
driveway, serving 21 Winchester Road, between this building and the proposed three storey 
apartment block.  There is a separation distance of 13 metres for the single storey element 
closest to 21 Winchester Road and a greater separation distance of 17 metres for the taller 
two and three storey parts of the apartment block. 

The apartment block has an 'L' shaped footprint and the side facing (north-west) elevation 
closest to this neighbouring property would have no windows facing No. 21.  Those in the side 
(north-west) elevation would be set back some 26 metres from 21 Winchester Road and 
would not serve primary living accommodation (a hall and bathroom).  These windows would 
only overlook a parking forecourt and driveway serving the neighbouring property.

The combination of the separation distance, relationship and design of the apartment block is 
such that the proposed development is not considered to result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy or overshadowing for the occupants of 21 Winchester Road.  In addition, a three 
dwelling terrace is sited with rear gardens backing onto the shared boundary.  These 
dwellings would be positioned some 26 metres away from No.21 and would not result in direct 
overlooking of the primary amenity area serving that property.

 9, 10, 11 and 12 Berehurst (northern boundary)

9, 10 and 11 Berehurst is a single storey building comprising three units set off and running 
roughly parallel with the northern site boundary.  The rear elevation of these properties face 
towards the site, with a separation distance of between 7 and 15 metres to the rear boundary 
with the site.  The side elevation of 12 Berehurst also faces towards the site, with a separation 
distance of some 30 metres to the site boundary. 

There are presently two boundary hedges on site, with the smaller of the two positioned some 
5 metres off the site boundary and detailed to be removed.  However, the larger hedge on the 
boundary line, with a height of between 2.5 - 3 metres, is to be retained.  The nature of 
development along this section of the northern boundary line comprises a mixture of two-
storey detached and semi-detached dwellings, set off and running parallel with the northern 
boundary and open space area fronting the dwellings.  There would be a back-to-back 
separation distance of between 18 metres and 30 metres from the two-storey dwelling and 
the existing neighbouring properties.  



This separation distance, with the retention of the hedge, is considered to be sufficient to 
prevent any unacceptable overlooking, loss of privacy, overbearing impact and 
overshadowing to the occupants within Berehurst.

 2, 3 and 4 Greenacre Close (north-east corner)

Greenacre Close is accessed off Borovere Lane with numbers 2, 3 and 4 at the end of this 
close, sharing a boundary with the application site.  These are two storey buildings with their 
rear elevations facing the application site.  2 Greenacre Close is a two storey dwelling 
attached to 3 and 4 Greenacre Close, 2 flats split over two levels.  These units are set at a 
lower land level than the application site, by approximately one metre.

A group of properties is proposed adjacent to these units, extending in a line directly to the 
south with an area of public open space to the south-west.  A single dwelling (unit 134) 
directly to the rear of 2, 3 and 4 Greenacre Close, is shown as a detached chalet bungalow, 
with its side elevation facing the rear elevation of 2, 3 and 4 Greenacre Close.  This unit is 
positioned approximately 13 metres from these neighbouring properties, but closer to some 
single storey projecting elements, having a separation distance of between 10 and 11 metres.  
The left hand one of these is used as a balcony. 

The boundary treatment between the development and neighbouring properties comprises a 
hedge, to a height of approximately 2 metres, which is detailed to be retained.  The side 
elevation of the chalet dwelling facing the neighbouring properties has one ground floor side 
(north) facing window, with a half hipped roof on the front elevation and a gable end on the 
rear elevation.  This building extends to an overall height of just over 7 metres and, being a 
chalet, has a low eaves height of some 3 metres, the first floor accommodation contained 
within the roof space.  A rooflight is shown within the each of the side roofslopes, and to 
prevent any overlooking of the neighbouring properties, this would need to be condition to 
have a sill height of 1.7 metres above finished floor level.  The building would be positioned at 
a higher ground level, however, with a low eaves height and the roof pitching away from the 
boundary, the development would retain a satisfactory degree of separation distance to 
prevent any unacceptable loss of privacy, overshadowing or overbearing impact on the 
occupants of the neighbouring properties. 

 1 and 2 Ings Close (north-east corner)

These are detached single storey properties adjacent to the top north-east corner of the site, 
neighbouring 2 Greenacre Close to the west and 32 Borovere Lane to the south.  These 
neighbouring properties are set back from the shared boundary line by some 5 metres, with 
the closest dwellings (units 134 and 135) between 20 and 23 metres away. The rear elevation 
of unit 135, a chalet bungalow, facing towards the rear elevation of 2 Ings Close, would have 
a separation distance of some 23 metres.  With this back-to-back separation distance, despite 
being positioned on a higher land level of approximately one metre, is not considered to result 
in any unacceptable loss of privacy or overshadowing to 1 and 2 Ings Close.  Unit 134 is also 
set away from these neighbouring properties and would not result in any unacceptable 
impact.



 32, 34, 53 and 59 Borovere Lane (north-east and eastern site boundary)

32 Borovere Lane is a detached bungalow adjacent to the top north-east site boundary. This 
property is positioned 5 metres from the shared boundary line, comprising a 1.5 - 2 metre 
boundary beech hedge.  There are a series of ground floor windows in the rear elevation of 
this neighbouring property facing west towards the site, which serve primary habitable 
accommodation. 

There is a single dwelling detailed immediately to the west of this neighbouring property (Unit 
135), which is a chalet-style dwelling and is shown to be positioned 9 metres from 32 
Borovere Lane.  Effectively, the rear elevation of unit 135 extends in-line with the rear corner 
of this neighbouring property. Unit 135 then extends parallel with the shared eastern 
boundary line and does not directly face existing built form. There is also a single ground floor 
shower room window on the side elevation facing 32 Borovere Lane. 

It is acknowledged that unit 135 is in close proximity (9 metres) to 32 Borovere Lane and 
natural daylight to this property would likely decrease from the existing situation with no built 
form on the site.  However, the proposed dwelling has a low eaves height, limited openings 
facing 32 Borovere Lane and its siting is off-set from the primary west facing windows of this 
neighbouring property.  A rooflight is shown within the each of the side roofslopes, and to 
prevent any overlooking of the neighbouring properties, this would need to be condition to 
have a sill height of 1.7 metres above finished floor level.  As such, unit 135, is not considered 
to result in an unacceptable impact on the present and future occupiers of this neighbouring 
property, in terms of privacy, overshadowing and overbearing impact.

34 Borovere Lane is a detached two storey property set back 21 metres from the site 
boundary. The boundary treatment comprises a post and wire fence and the development 
details four parking spaces and the side elevation of a two storey terrace building facing the 
south-west corner of this neighbouring site. The proposed development is positioned away 
from and there would be no direct overlooking of this neighbouring property. No unacceptable 
impacts are considered to result from the development to the present and future occupants of 
this property.

53 Borovere Lane is a detached bungalow to the east of the site, on the opposite side of 
Borovere Lane. The side elevation of Unit 110 faces this property, with the side elevation of 
101 facing its side garden.  Unit 110 is positioned some 12 metres away and screened in part 
by an existing hedgerow. Units 101 and 110 are positioned and orientated to prevent any 
unacceptable overlooking and overshadowing to the occupants of this property. 

Lastly, 59 Borovere Lane is positioned adjacent to the south-east boundary of the site at the 
end of Borovere Lane. This property is positioned approximately 35 metres away from the 
closest unit (unit 101) and would be largely screened by the existing mature tree belt that runs 
along the full length of the southern boundary. 

For the aforementioned reasons, the proposed development is not considered to result in an 
unacceptable loss of privacy or overshadowing on the occupants of the neighbouring and 
surrounding properties. 



Also, the proposed development is considered to provide a good standard of amenity for the 
future occupants of the development. The development, therefore, accords with Policies 
CP27 and CP29 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and the advice contained within the 
NPPF.  

3. Appearance

The design of the houses has taken reference from the main character found around the 
Butts Green and surrounding area.  Houses are shown to have a mixture of features, 
including bay windows, chimneys, gable-ends, tile hanging, render, string and header brick 
courses, together with a mixture of clay tiled roofs and slate.  

Sections and street scenes have been submitted, showing an attractive and varied range of 
building types and materials throughout the development.  The roofscape of the development 
is particularly important as it is the main aspect that would be viewed from a wider area.  
There is sufficient variety in roof styles, shapes, materials and features, including chimneys 
and dormers, to provide an interesting roofscape, broken in time by trees within the housing 
areas and by the vegetation belts with their mature trees.  The appearance of the areas within 
the development is set out below.

As such, the proposed appearance of the dwellings would respect the character, identity and 
context of the immediate surroundings and is considered to be of a good design. This 
application, therefore, complies with Policy CP29 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy, 
Policy DE2 of the Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan and the advice contained within 
the NPPF.  

4. Landscaping and impact on the character of the area / site

The site extends to some 9.3 hectares in size and is currently in an agricultural use, as 
grazing land. The site levels rise notably away from the Selborne Road (A339), in a south-
west to north-east orientation.  The site is clearly defined by two vegetation belts running 
across the site, roughly north to south, and a further woodland tree belt along the southern 
site boundary.  These vegetation belts are to be retained and would frame the three distinct 
development parcels.  The outline permission sets out that the existing vegetation on and 
adjacent to the site would be retained and enhanced.  The reserved matters details of the 
landscaping are consistent with this approach, with the main landscaped areas shown as 
being retained and enhanced.

The trees within the site are now protected by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO).  These 
would all be retained, bar the loss of an Ash tree (T37) outside the established vegetation 
belts and some removal of a section of vegetation in the upper belt, to allow for creation of the 
spine road.  This is required due to the significant level changes and the need to provide a 
road with minimal gradients.  



The vegetation belts are to be enhanced with new hedge and tree planting to fill gaps and 
provide replacements for the trees in the event that Ash die-back come to the site.  Sufficient 
separation distances between proposed dwellings and the vegetation belts have been 
provided to ensure the long-term retention of these area, and the Tree Officer has confirmed 
that he is satisfied with the precautions that have been put in place to secure their retention.

Additional information in the form of an updated Tree Survey and Tree Protection Plan has 
been received, which largely provides supplementary information to consider the relationship 
of a group of trees (G23) in south-western corner of the site with the siting of apartment block 
1 (plots 7-18).   This information shows the pruning and possible removal of three trees 
(T23.1, T23.2 and T23.3) on the inside edge of the planting belt, since in the longer term as 
these are young trees, their canopy spread would conflict with the building and the amenities 
for future occupiers.  The Council's Tree Officer has reviewed this information and has 
advised that he does not consider the removal of these perimeter trees along the eastern side 
of the group to be good arboricultural practice and does not accept that the group is category 
C (BS 5837) as visually it is an important group.  So an objection to the proposal is 
maintained by the Tree Officer.

The three trees in question comprise two young Field Maples and an Aspen, which are on the 
eastern (internal) edge of a group of relatively recently planted landscape buffer fronting onto 
the eastern side of Selborne Road.  Currently, they would not provide an undue adverse 
impact on future residents, although as these trees mature their canopies would spread to 
overhang the building and would be likely to require to be removed.  The applicant is 
suggesting the pruning / removal of these trees as part of wider management of this group, 
which would allow the remaining trees to mature, which as Aspens, would have more limited 
crown spread and thus marginal potential for an adverse amenity to the proposed dwellings.  
As above, the Tree Officer has maintained his objection, as these are protected trees and 
their removal is not good arboricultural practice.  However, it is noted that these trees are 
protected for their group value, and there are many other trees within the group which will 
mature and provide the landscape screening to soften the development from Selborne Road.  
In addition, it proposed the long term management of the protected trees on the site would be 
secured through a Tree Management Plan.   On balance, it is considered that the loss of 
these young trees is outweighed by the delivery of the dwellings, the additional tree planting 
and the managed establishment of the other trees in this group.

The development includes tree planting and other soft landscaping throughout, with 
defensible measures for open spaces and vegetation belts.  Communal areas would be 
subject to a management plan, in addition to the arboricultural management plan, to ensure 
that it was maintained in perpetuity.

The land to the south and east of the site is open countryside, as agricultural land, and the 
land to the north and west of the site comprises largely residential development within the 
Alton Settlement Policy Boundary.  The Butts Green Conservation Area lies immediately to 
the north-west of the site, on the other side of the railway line, which is considered in detail 
below.  



There is a gas pipeline which runs through the northern part of the site, which is left open and 
connects the ecology area in the north-east corner of the site with an area of public open 
space adjacent to the northern site boundary. 

The development is effectively an urban extension to the South of Alton, served via a new 
roundabout junction off the Selborne Road. The detailed Site Layout Plan, shows frontage 
development along Selborne Road, which is set back from the road, with additional soft 
landscaping and access roads between the proposed properties and Selborne Road.  There 
are effectively two linear patterns of development in this first land parcel, with two residential 
three storey apartment blocks at either end of a row of frontage detached and semi-detached 
two-storey properties.  The spine road continues up through the middle part of the site, with a 
series of access roads, a further three-storey apartment block at a lower level close, but set 
off the existing tree / hedgerow belt, and a mixture of largely detached and semi-detached two 
storey properties. 

The final land parcel is positioned on the upper, larger and flatter section of the site with the 
open space and much of the space kept clear of development because of the existing gas 
pipeline in this part of the site. The pattern of residential development continues in this part of 
the site, with a series of access road and a mixture of two storey detached, semi-detached 
and terraced properties fronting the spine and relative access roads, with a series of detached 
garages, driveways and visitor parking spaces across the site.  An area of open-space would 
be provided at the top of the site, located on a level area of ground.  This siting makes the 
space more useable and also backs onto the tennis courts and open-space within Berehurst.

The development would see a change in the character of the site, with the erection of 243 
dwellings on a presently greenfield site. However, the development has been designed to 
retain and enhance the existing natural features on the site and, with much of these areas 
being protected by a Tree Preservation Order, they are likely to be retained in the long term.  
The layout, scale and density of built form has been carefully planned to be sympathetic to 
the immediate area and, whilst changing the present character of the site, the development is 
not considered to have an adverse impact on the character of the area or site. 

Improvements have been made to the landscaping along the site frontage with Selborne 
Road, to create a new sense of place and improvements to one of main gateways into Alton.  
There is also a public open space and new green corridor linking an ecology area to the 
north-east of the site to the open space at the top, north-west, of the site. 

The built form is spread across the site and the locations of the taller apartment blocks has 
been chosen to avoid those most sensitive parts of the site. Their locations are considered to 
be appropriate in the wider landscape context, at lower land levels across the site and against 
the backdrop of existing vegetation that is likely to provide additional vegetation cover over 
time once it becomes more established.  Therefore, which the proposed apartment blocks 
would be visible in the immediate and, to start, wider landscape, they are considered to 
conserve and enhance the site's natural features and not have a lasting long term adverse 
impact on the immediate or wider landscape character nor the District's natural environment. 



This application, therefore, complies with Policy CP20 (Landscape) of the Local Plan: Joint 
Core Strategy and the advice contained within the NPPF.    

Other matters:

5. House type / mix and affordable housing

Policy CP11 (Housing Tenure, Type and Mix) of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and 
Policy HO1 of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan seeks to address housing requirements, to 
create sustainable communities and to maintain a range of dwelling sizes.  As a proportion of 
the 243 dwellings proposed, 14% are 1 and 2 bed flats (7% each), 28% are 2 bed houses, 
34% are 3 bed houses and 24% are 4 bed houses.  This is considered to be a good housing 
mix that would provide a balance of housing units across the site to meet housing needs. The 
development would, therefore, provide an appropriate range of dwelling sizes, in accordance 
with Policy CP11 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and Policy HO1 of the Alton 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

In terms of affordable housing, Policy CP13 sets out the affordable housing provision, and, in 
this instance, being a reserved matters application, the affordable housing provision has been 
established for the development at the outline stage, secured through the Section 106 
agreement.  This requires 20% of the total number of dwellings to be affordable, with the 
provision split between 30% intermediate housing (shared ownership) and 70% affordable 
rent.  These units are spread out across the site, with affordable units detailed in all three 
development parcels of the site. 

The following affordable housing mix is proposed: 
 
Unit Type Affordable Rent Shared Ownership Total
1 bed apartment 6 6 12
2 bed apartment 3 3 9
2 bed house 16 3 19
3 bed house 7 3 10
4 bed house 2 0 2
Total 34 15 49

The Council's Housing Enabling Officer has reviewed the proposal and advised that the 
affordable housing has been fully integrated within the residential development, with the 
affordable units 'pepper potted' across the site.   As such, the proposed development accords 
with Policy CP13 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and the requirements of the Section 
106 legal agreement.   



6. Highway and parking considerations

The highway and access considerations for the proposed development has been considered 
in detail as part of the original hybrid application, where full planning permission was granted 
for the associated highway works, including the new roundabout junction serving the 
development.  The number of dwellings sought by this reserved matters application is no 
greater than that considered at outline stage and, therefore, the development is not 
considered to give rise to any adverse impact on highway safety and capacity.  As such, the 
County Highway Authority has no objection to the reserved matters.

In terms of parking provision, Policy TR5 of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan sets out the 
parking requirements for the proposed development. The requirements are set out below:

 1 bedroom dwellings: 1 parking space 

 2 and 3 bedroom dwellings: 2 parking spaces 

 4 bedroom (or more) dwellings: 3 parking spaces

The policy also specifies that for any garages to be included as off-street parking spaces the 
must have certain minimum internal dimensions (as set out below) and that one additional 
visitor parking space be provided per every two dwellings proposed.

 Single garage: 3.0 metres wide x 6.0 metres deep 

 Double garage: 5.7 metres wide x 6.0 metres deep 

The parking strategy drawing shows the provision of 462 allocated parking spaces, 84 spaces 
within garages and a further 122 visitor parking spaces, giving a total on-site provision of 668 
spaces.  The internal dimensions of all the proposed garages accord with the minimum 
internal measurements set out in Policy TR5, each dwelling has the required off street parking 
space requirements dependent on the number of bedrooms of each unit and there is a total of 
122 additional visitor parking spaces.  The Council’s Traffic Team has no objection to the 
proposal.  As such, the parking provision proposed accords with Policy TR5 of the Alton 
Neighbourhood Development Plan.

7. Drainage / flooding

The site is situated within Flood Zone 1, thus at lowest risk from flooding.  However, there are 
areas on the lower, north-east, corner of the site that are at risk of surface water flooding 
(Lesser and Intermediate Surface Water Flooding Susceptibility). 

A site-specific Flood Risk Assessment has been submitted as part of this application, which 
has been reviewed by the Council's Drainage Consultant. 



This has been designed to cater for a 1:100 year + 40% climate change event and would 
provide adequate drainage for the proposed development to not increase the risk of flooding 
to people and property.  The Council's Drainage Consultant has raised no objection, subject 
to continued long term maintenance of the drainage systems.  This has already been secured 
through a planning condition on the outline permission.  Hampshire County Council, as the 
Lead Local Flood Authority, has confirmed it does not wish to comment on this reserved 
matters application.  No objections are, therefore, raised on flood risk grounds and the 
development would comply with Policy CP25 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and the 
advice contained within the NPPF. 

8. Ecology

Policy CP21 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy requires new development to maintain, 
enhance and protect the District's biodiversity and its surrounding environment. The 
application has been submitted with a supporting Ecology Survey and has been designed and 
laid out to protect and enhance the existing features of wildlife value across the site. This is 
largely with the retention and enhancement of the existing natural features on the site, with 
the majority of the built development positioned within the ecology poor existing grazing land. 

The County Ecologist and Natural England have reviewed the proposal and neither has 
raised an objection, with the County Ecologist advising that the measures as outlined in the 
submitted Ecological Mitigation Strategy (EDP, June 2018) for the retention, protection, and 
enhancement of ecological features are acceptable. A condition is recommended that the 
development be implemented in strict accordance with these details. On this basis, the 
proposed development is considered to maintain and enhance the District's biodiversity and 
surrounding environment, in accordance with Policy CP21 of the Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy and the advice contained within the NPPF. 

9. Impact on heritage assets

Policy CP30 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy sets out new development is required to 
conserve and enhance the setting of District's Heritage Assets. In this instance, the site lies 
outside a conservation area and there are no listed building or heritage assets on the site.  
Despite this, the Butts Conservation Area lies immediately to the north of the site, on the 
opposite side of the Mid Hants Railway line, and there is a listed building (The French Horn) 
grade II, some 120 metres to the west of the application, on the other side of the railway line 
and Butts Road.

As part of the evolution of the scheme, one of the three storey apartment block was 
positioned in close proximity to the northern site boundary and boundary with the Butts 
Conservation Area.  This building has subsequently been re-sited within the site and away 
from the Conservation Area boundary.  The boundary between the site and this Conservation 
Area is well screened by the existing residential development and railway embankment.  The 
Conservation Area and application site, at the closest point, are some 70 metres apart. 



The development has been considered by the Council's Principal Conservation Officer, where 
no objection has been raised to the proposed development.  The development, although 
positioned on rising ground levels, would preserve the setting and appearance of the Butts 
Conservation Area and would not have an adverse impact on the setting of The French Horn 
PH listed building.  This application, therefore, complies with Policy CP30 of the Local Plan: 
Joint Core Strategy, Policies HE8 and HE12 of the Local Plan: Second Review (as saved), 
Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and 
the advice contained within the NPPF.  

10. Impact on the South Downs National Park

The application site lies outside the South Downs National Park, with the Park boundary lying 
some 250 metres to the south.  Although the site lies outside the Park, Policy CP20 
(Landscape) requires development to conserve and enhance its natural beauty, tranquillity, 
wildlife and cultural heritage, as well as its setting.

The National Park Authority has reviewed the proposal and raised comments in regards to the 
landscaping, layout, materials and lighting.  No objection has been raised, but points have 
been raised in regards to three storey buildings and careful consideration should be had in 
regard to the colour palette of the proposed buildings, particularly the taller structures, on the 
local landscape character and long distance views. 

The colour palette of the development is primarily red bricks with a mixture of grey and red 
roof tiles.  This is mixed with the occasional dwelling with tile hanging or painted external brick 
work, which is also the case for the proposed apartment blocks.  Elements of these buildings 
have painted external brickwork, which is considered to add interest and break up the 
external appearance of the built form, and the extent of which is not significant.   The taller 
three storey scale buildings would not be sited on the most elevated and visually prominent 
parts of the site.  Also, from long distance views from the National Park looking north towards 
the site the development would be read as a whole in context with the existing built form of 
Alton beyond.  As such, the development is considered to respect and conserve the setting of 
the South Downs National Park. 

Lastly, the applicant has had regard for external lighting and this can be controlled by way of 
a condition to ensure the development does not result in significant light pollution that could 
be harmful to the designated dark night skies commodity of the National Park. 

For the above reasons, the proposal is considered not to harm the purposes of the National 
Park.

11. Developer Contributions / Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

This is a reserved matters application, where all developer contributions have been 
established and secured by way of a S.106 legal agreement dated 29 April 2015. As an 
overview, the secured obligations relevant to this application are as follows:



 20% affordable housing (30% intermediate (shared ownership) and 70% affordable rent)

 employment and training package 

 travel plan

 integrated transport measures

 off-site highway works 

 community project worker

 replacement of Butts Bridge

 a commuted sum of £5,057 per eligible dwelling for extensions to primary schools in Alton 
and £1,683 per eligible dwelling for secondary education to be paid to HCC.

 structural planting

 management and maintenance of open spaces

 contribution towards replacement of Alton Sports Centre (£10,000 per dwelling)

 
In terms of the Council's adopted Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), the original hybrid 
permission (outline for the residential development) was granted under application reference 
30021/056 in July 2015.  This permission was granted before the Council's CIL SPD was 
adopted in April 2016, therefore, there is no CIL charge liable for this development.    

Response to Parish/Town Council Comments

Alton Town Council has not raised an objection to this application, but did raise the point that 
the roads are not proposed to be adopted by the County Council and that the development 
should ensure grit bins are installed throughout the sloping site to ensure the safety of 
residents and visitors. Although the provision of grit bins is not a material planning 
consideration, it is a sensible suggestion and it is recommended that the applicant is made 
aware of this by way of an informative note. 

Conclusion

This reserved matters application follows the indicative details and constraints established as 
part of the approved outline / hybrid permission (30021/056), detailing the provision of 243 
new dwellings across the site.  This is also consistent with the Policy HO3(a) of the Alton 
Neighbourhood Development Plan and contributes towards the Development Plan 
requirement for a minimum of 700 dwellings at Alton (Policy CP10 Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy). The principle of development has previously found to be acceptable, together with 
the means of access.  



The submitted reserved matters details comprising the layout, scale, landscaping and 
appearance of the development are all considered acceptable, subject to appropriate and 
sound planning conditions.  As such, the reserved matters details are considered to comply 
with those relevant policies contained in the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy, Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan, East Hampshire District Local Plan: 
Second Review (saved policies), sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the advice contained within the NPPF. 

RECOMMENDATION APPROVAL subject to the following conditions:

1 Notwithstanding any indication of materials that may have been given in 
the application or in the absence of such information, no development 
above slab level shall take place on site until samples / details including 
manufacturers details of all the materials to be used for external facing 
and roofing for the development hereby approved have been submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.
Reason - To ensure that the materials used in the construction of the 
approved development harmonise with the surroundings.

2 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order, 2015 (or any Order 
revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) no extensions and / or 
alterations otherwise permitted under Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A and 
B of said Order shall be carried out on the dwellinghouse without the prior 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason - It is considered that extensions and / or alterations of the 
dwellings could result in an adverse effect upon the adjacent properties 
and / or the visual character and appearance of the area.

3 Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 2 Schedule 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order, 
2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) no 
fence, wall or other means of enclosure shall be erected, constructed or 
established on any of the Open Space or Amenity Areas shown on the 
approved plans, unless otherwise indicated on the approved plans.
Reason - To secure the long term retention of the open space and 
amenity areas.

4 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order 
revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) no additional window(s) or 
door(s) shall at any time be inserted in the side (east) elevations of Units 
101, 110, 127 and 135, the side (north) elevation of Unit 134, or the side 
(north) elevation of Block 2, at first floor level or above, as shown on 



approved Site Layout Plan (drawing number P18-0384_01 Rev. R), 
without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason - To protect the privacy of the occupants of the adjoining 
residential properties.

5 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order 
revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) the garages hereby 
approved shall only be used for the purpose of parking private motor 
vehicles and ancillary domestic storage in connection with the residential 
use of the properties, hereby approved.
Reason - To ensure the adequate provision of on-site parking in the 
interests of highway safety.

6 The proposed hard surface/s shall either be made of porous materials or 
provision shall be made to direct run-off water from the hard surface/s to a 
permeable or porous surface within the site.
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for surface water drainage, avoid 
discharge of water onto the public highway and reduce the risk of 
flooding.

7 The development hereby approved shall not be first brought into use until 
a fully detailed landscape and planting scheme for the site has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and in 
accordance with the recommendations of the appropriate British 
Standards or other recognised codes of good practice.  These works shall 
be carried out in the first planting season after practical completion or 
first occupation of the development, whichever is earlier, unless 
otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years after planting, are 
removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be 
replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of species, size 
and number as originally approved unless a suitable alternative species 
are otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason - In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and to 
enable proper consideration to be given to the impact of the proposed 
development on existing trees.

8 The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until a 
landscape/open space management plan, including a maintenance 
schedule indicating proposals for the long-term management of 
landscape areas, other than small, privately owned, domestic gardens, 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority.  The landscape/open space shall thereafter be managed in 
accordance with the approved details.



Reason - To ensure that due regard is paid to the continuing 
enhancement and maintenance of amenity afforded by landscape 
features of communal, public, nature conservation, or historical 
significance.

9 The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied until a 
detailed boundary treatment plan has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The plan shall include details of 
the positions, design, materials/species of the boundary treatments to be 
erected/planted.  The approved details shall be fully implemented before 
the use of the development is commenced and/or any part of the 
development is occupied and shall be retained thereafter.
Reason - To ensure an appropriate standard of visual amenity in the area 
and to safeguard the privacy and amenities of the residents of the locality.

10 No dwelling shall be first occupied until details have been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority showing the 
positioning, size and plant species relating to the reinforcement of the 
existing hedgerow along the northern site boundary. This hedge shall be 
retained to the agreed specifications thereafter and should any parts of 
the hedgerow become damaged or removed, they shall be replaced by 
the same or similar plant species during the first available planting 
season. 
Reason - To safeguard the privacy and amenity of adjacent residents and 
in the interests of visual amenity and providing/protecting green 
infrastructure.

11 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict 
accordance with the approved Arboricultural Method Statement 
(edp4455-r005a: June 2018) and Tree Protection Plan (EDP1: Tree 
Protection Plan - 7 November 2018).
Reason - To ensure that the trees on and around the site are adequately 
protected from damage to their health and /or amenity value.

12 No dwelling shall be first occupied until the areas shown on the approved 
plan for the parking of vehicles (including garages and those areas 
marked out on the plan as being unallocated) to serve that respective 
dwelling (including any associated visitor parking spaces) have been 
made available, surfaced and marked out.  The parking areas shall then 
be permanently retained and reserved for that purpose at all times.
Reason - To make satisfactory provision for parking within the 
development in the interests of highway safety.

13 Prior to the first occupation of any part of the development, details of all 
non-domestic external lighting to be installed on the site shall be 
submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  



The lighting shall be installed, operated, and maintained in accordance 
with the approved details.
Reason - In the interests of visual amenity and the Dark Skies commodity 
of the area.

Note: When submitting details for approval, it is requested that a report 
from a competent Lighting Professional is provided, confirming that the 
external lighting installation meets the Obtrusive Light Limitations for 
Exterior Lighting Installations for Environmental Zones as set out in the 
"Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01:2011" issued 
by the Institute of Lighting Professionals.

14 Notwithstanding any indication shown on the approved plans and 
notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, re-
enacting or modifying that Order) prior to the first occupation of Plot 135, 
the rooflight window hereby permitted in the eastern roofslope shall be 
constructed with a sill height of not less than 1.7 metres above internal 
floor height of the room it is serving, and shall subsequently be retained to 
that specification thereafter.
Reason - To protect the privacy of the occupants of the adjoining 
residential properties.

15 Notwithstanding any indication shown on the approved plans and 
notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, re-
enacting or modifying that Order) prior to the first occupation of Plot 134, 
the rooflight window hereby permitted in the northern roofslope shall be 
constructed with a sill height of not less than 1.7 metres above internal 
floor height of the room it is serving, and shall subsequently be retained to 
that specification thereafter.
Reason - To protect the privacy of the occupants of the adjoining 
residential properties.

16 Notwithstanding any indication shown on the approved plans, and 
notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, re-
enacting or modifying that Order) prior to the first occupation of the 
dwelling hereby approved, the first floor windows in the eastern side 
elevation of the Plot 127 hereby permitted shall be permanently; 
(i) glazed with obscure glass with a glass panel which has been rendered 
obscure as part of its manufacturing process to Pilkington glass 
classification 5 (or equivalent of glass supplied by an alternative 
manufacturer), and 
(ii) non-opening below 1.7 metres from the finished floor level of the room 
in which the window is installed.



Reason - To protect the privacy of the occupants of the adjoining 
residential property.

17 Development shall be carried out in accordance with the measures details 
within the Ecological Mitigation Strategy (EDP, June 2018) for the 
retention, protection, and enhancement of ecological features on the site.
Reason - In the interests of the ecology and bio-diversity of the area.

18 No development above slab level shall take place until a Tree 
Management Plan detailing the long term management of the protected 
trees on the site, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the agreed details.
Reason - In the interests of the health and amenity of the protected trees 
on the site.

19 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and particulars:

Application Form
Accommodation Schedule - Site Layout P18-0384_01Q
Drg. No. EDP4455_D001k (18 September 2018): Landscape Strategy

Drg. No. P18-0384_01 Rev R: Site Layout Plan

Drg. No. EDP4455_D002E: Detailed Soft Landscape Plan (Sheets 1-14) 
Drg. No. EDP4455_D007E: Plan EDP 1: Tree Protection Plan (dated 13 
September 2018)
Drg. No. P18-0384_19 Sheet No: 01 Rev. B: Street Scenes 

Drg. No. P18-0384_4 Sheet No:21 Rev. B: Chalet Floor Plans & 
Elevations

Drg. No. P18-0384_05 Sheet No:25 Rev. B: Floor Plans & Elevations 
Apartments (Block 4)

Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development.

Informative Notes to Applicant:

1 In accordance with paragraphs 38 and 39 of the NPPF East Hampshire 
District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive approach and 
works with applicants/agents on development proposals in a manner 
focused on solutions by:



 offering a pre-application advice service,

 updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible suggesting 
solutions.

In this instance, the application was provided with pre-application advice, 
and was updated of issues during the assessment of the application.  

2 The applicant is advised that provision should be made throughout the 
site for highway grit bins to ensure the safety of residents and visitors.

CASE OFFICER: Matthew Harding 01730 234233
———————————————————————————————————————



SECTION 1   Item 01, Land at Lord Mayor Treloar Hospital Site, Chawton Park Road, 
and land East of Selborne Road Alton

Block plan



SECTION 1   Item 01, Land at Lord Mayor Treloar Hospital Site, Chawton Park Road, 
and land East of Selborne Road Alton

Proposed site layout

Street scene 1



SECTION 1   Item 01, Land at Lord Mayor Treloar Hospital Site, Chawton Park Road, 
and land East of Selborne Road Alton

Street scene 2

Street scene 3

Street scene 4

Street scene 5

Proposed Street Scenes



Appendix 2

20 November 2018
Planning Committee

Supplementary Matters to be considered as part of Planning Officer's Report on 
Planning Applications.

S1  Item  

30021/065/RES

Land at Lord Mayor Treloar Hospital Site, 
Chawton Park Road, and land East of 
Selborne Road Alton

CORRECTIONS

For clarification, in regards to trees, it is not proposed that three trees (T23.1 - 
T23.3) necessarily be removed. It is proposed that they are managed in accordance 
with a Tree Management Plan to be submitted and approved (Condition 18). Future 
management could include the removal of these trees, but could also include a 
scheme to control their future growth. The group (G23), as a whole, together with 
other areas across the site, needs management, which would include selective 
felling and pruning to protect and enhance the future growth and value of all trees 
on site. 

CHANGES TO RECOMMENDATION

Additional condition:

Prior to the occupation of any dwelling forming phase three of the development, as 
shown on approved phasing plan (P18-0384-17 Rev. A), details shall be submitted 
to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, showing the means to 
restrict vehicular access from Borovere Lane to that for emergency vehicles only 
(including use by pedestrians and cyclists). The agreed details shall thereafter be 
retained for the duration of the development. 
Reason - In the interests of highway safety. 

Amendment to conditions:

Condition 7 (Landscaping)

The approved landscape and planting scheme, as shown on approved plans 
(Landscape Strategy - edp4455_D001k, dated 18 September 2018, and Detailed 
Soft Landscape Plan (Sheet 1-14), dated 14 September 2018) shall be carried out in 
accordance with a programme to be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority, which shall also provide written details of the design and 
planting details for the approved retaining walls. The works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and in accordance with the recommendations 
of the appropriate British Standards or other recognised codes of good practice.  



These works shall be carried out in the first planting season after practical 
completion or first occupation of the development, including each phase of the 
development, whichever is earlier, unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.
Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years after planting, are removed, die 
or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced as soon as is 
reasonably practicable with others of species, size and number as originally 
approved unless a suitable alternative species are otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.
Reason - In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and to enable proper 
consideration to be given to the impact of the proposed development on existing 
trees.
[Officer note: Amendment to reference submitted landscape and planting plans].

Condition 8 (Landscape Management)

The development, hereby approved, shall be carried out, maintained and managed 
in accordance with the approved Landscape Management Plan (The Environmental 
Dimension Partnership Ltd - edp4455_r002a, dated June 2018).
Reason - To ensure that due regard is paid to the continuing enhancement and 
maintenance of amenity afforded by landscape features of communal, public, nature 
conservation, or historical significance.
[Officer note: Amendment to reference submitted Landscape Management plan].

Condition 9 (Boundary details)

The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied until a detailed 
boundary treatment plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority.  The plan shall include details of the positions, design, 
materials/species of the boundary treatments to be erected/planted.  The approved 
details shall be carried out in accordance with an implementation plan, which shall 
be submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The 
agreed boundary treatments shall be retained thereafter. 
Reason - To ensure an appropriate standard of visual amenity in the area and to 
safeguard the privacy and amenities of the residents of the locality.
[Officer note: Amendment to include agreement of a timing plan for implementation 
of the agreed details].

Condition 10 (Northern boundary hedge)

No dwelling shall be first occupied until details have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority showing the positioning, size 
and plant species relating to the existing hedgerow along the northern site 
boundary. This hedge shall be retained to the agreed specifications thereafter and 
should any parts of the hedgerow become damaged or removed, they shall be 
replaced by the same or similar plant species during the first available planting 
season. 
Reason - To safeguard the privacy and amenity of adjacent residents and in the 
interests of visual amenity and providing/protecting green infrastructure.
[Officer note: Reference to reinforcement of the hedgerow omitted].



Condition 19 (Approved plans and documents schedule)

The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans and particulars:

Report Author Reference Rev / date
Application form WYG - June 2018

Documents for Validation 
and
submission schedule (as 
agreed with
EHDC)

WYG - June 2018

EHDC Validation Checklist WYG - June 2018

Planning, Design and 
Access Statement 

WYG HP18015_1 June 2018

Landscape Management 
and
Maintenance Plan

EDP edp4455_r002 A

Ecology Mitigation 
Strategy (Informed
by Latest Survey Details)

EDP edp4455_r004 A

Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment and 
Arboricultural Method
Statement – Incorporating 
Tree Protection and 
Survey Plans

EDP edp4455_r005 H

Landscape Visual Impact 
Assessment
Statement of Conformity

EDP edp4455_r006 A

Drainage Statement 
(including
Supporting Plans and 
calculations)

Odyssey 16-405-01 A

Statement of Community 
Involvement 

Newgate 
Comms 

- -

Accommodation Schedule Pegasus P18-0384_01 Q

Daylight and 
Overshadowing
Assessment

WYG - 11/09/2018



Plan Author Reference Rev
Site Layout Plan Pegasus P18-0384_01 R

Site Location Plan Pegasus P18-0384_02 B

Materials Plan Pegasus P18-0384_03 B

House Type Floor Plans 
and Elevations 

Pegasus P18-0384_04-1
P18-0384_04-2
P18-0384_04-3
P18-0384_04-4
P18-0384_04-5
P18-0384_04-7
P18-0384_04-8
P18-0384_04-9
P18-0384_04-10
P18-0384_04-12
P18-0384_04-13
P18-0384_04-14
P18-0384_04-15
P18-0384_04-17
P18-0384_04-18
P18-0384_04-19
P18-0384_04-20
P18-0384_04-21
P18-0384_04-22
P18-0384_04-23
P18-0384_04-24
P18-0384_04-25
P18-0384_04-26
P18-0384_04-27
P18-0384_04-28
P18-0384_04-29
P18-0384_04-30
P18-0384_04-32
P18-0384_04-33

B 
A
B
B 
A
A 
A 
A
A 
A 
A 
B 
A 
B 
B 
C 
A 
B 
A 
A 
A 
A 
A 
A 
B 
A 
A 
B 
-

Apartment Block 
Elevations 

Pegasus P18-0384_05-1
P18-0384_05-2
P18-0384_05-3
P18-0384_05-4
P18-0384_05-5

A 
A 
A 
B 
B

Parking Strategy Pegasus P18-0384_06 D

Section and Street Scene 
Location Plan 

Pegasus P18-0384_09 D

Building Heights Plan Pegasus P18-0384_11 B



Affordable Housing Plan Pegasus P18-0384_12 B

Enclosure Details Pegasus P18-0384_14 -

Substation Elevations Pegasus P18-0384_15 -

Garage and Cycle Store 
Floor Plans and Elevations

Pegasus P18-0384_16-1
P18-0384_16-2
P18-0384_16-3
P18-0384_16-4

-
-
-
A

Phasing Plan Pegasus P18-0384_17 A
Proposed Site Sections Pegasus P18-0384_18-1

P18-0384_18-2
B 
E

Proposed Street Scenes Pegasus P18-0384_19-01
P18-0384_19-02

A 
A

Schematic Levels Odyssey 16-405-003 Q
Private Car Tracking Odyssey 16-405-004 B
Refuse Vehicle Tracking Odyssey 16-405-005 D

Fire Tender Vehicle 
Tracking 

Odyssey 16-405-006 F

Surface Finishes Sheet Odyssey 16-405-008 C

Surface Water 
Exceedance Routes 

Odyssey 16-405-009 B

General Arrangement with 
Street Lighting

Odyssey 16-405-010 B

Drainage Strategy Plan Odyssey 16-405-011 C

Detailed Soft Landscaping 
Plans 

EDP edp4455_d002
Sheets 1-14

D

Landscaping Strategy EDP Edp4455_d001 K

Tree Pit Details EDP Edp4455_d009 A

Play Space Plan EDP edp455_d010 A

Existing Topographical 
Survey
(including existing 
boundaries and
levels)

Solent 
Surveys 

13398S1 B



Tree Protection Plan EDP Edp4455_d007 F

Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development. 
[Officer note: Comprehensive list of plans and particulars not pulled through from 
the system in original condition].


	Agenda
	 
	Committee preface including JCS amended Sept 2016

	5.(i) 30021/065/RES/MH - Land at Lord Mayor Treloar Hospital Site, Chawton Park Road, and land East of Selborne Road Alton
	Appendix 1%2c  Item 1 land at LMTH site%2c Chawton Road
	Appendix 2




